

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Journal of Fluorine Chemistry



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/fluor

# <sup>Review</sup> <sup>19</sup>F NMR applications in chemical biology

## Steven L. Cobb<sup>a,\*</sup>, Cormac D. Murphy<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Chemistry, University of Durham, South Road, Durham DH1 3LE, United Kingdom <sup>b</sup> School of Biomolecular and Biomedical Science and Centre for Synthesis and Chemical Biology, University College Dublin, Belfield, Dublin 4, Ireland

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 19 May 2008 Received in revised form 19 November 2008 Accepted 20 November 2008 Available online 3 December 2008

*Keywords:* <sup>19</sup>F NMR Metabolism Biosynthesis Binding Structural analysis

. . . .

#### Contents

#### ABSTRACT

Although fluorine plays only a minor role in biology, its physicochemical properties have proven incredibly useful in the design of analogues of biologically important molecules. Analysis of organofluorine compounds by <sup>19</sup>F NMR was largely confined to synthetic chemists but this technique is finding increasing applications in biological systems. The fluorine atom with its relative small size and 100% natural isotope abundance represents an attractive option for biological NMR studies. In this paper we review the recent literature highlighting the exploitation of <sup>19</sup>F NMR in a range of research areas at the interface of chemistry and biology.

© 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

- - -

| -  |   |  |     |
|----|---|--|-----|
| 2. | Metal   | bolic studies employing <sup>19</sup> F NMR                    | 133 |
|    | 2.1.  | Biotransformation of fluorinated xenobiotics                   | 133 |
|    | 2.2.  | Detection and biosynthesis of natural organofluorine compounds | 134 |
|    | 2.3.  | Fate of fluorinated drugs                                      | 134 |
|    | 2.4.  | Assaying gene expression                                       | 136 |
|    | 2.5.  | Physiological measurement                                      | 136 |
| 3. | Bindi   | ng studies   | 137 |
|    | 3.1.  | Introduction   | 137 |
|    | 3.2.  | Binding interactions involving proteins                        | 137 |
|    | 3.3.  | Protein–DNA binding interactions                               | 138 |
|    | 3.4.  | Small molecule-protein binding interactions                    | 138 |
|    | 3.5.  | Small molecule–DNA/RNA binding interactions                    | 139 |
| 4. | Structural analysis of macromolecules using <sup>19</sup> F NMR |  | 139 |
|    | 4.1.  | Background.  | 139 |
|    | 4.2.  | Protein folding  | 139 |
|    | 4.3.  | DNA and RNA secondary structure                                | 141 |
| 5. | Concl   | uding remarks  | 141 |
|    | Refer   | ences  | 142 |

## 1. Introduction

The physicochemical properties of fluorine distinguish it from the other halogens, and led Pauling to describe it as a 'superhalogen' [1]. Although fluorine is the most abundant halogen in the earth's crust, it plays a very minor role in biology; fluorinated compounds, biosynthesised *de novo*, are rare in nature. This reflects the properties of the fluoride ion, such as its high redox potential and its propensity to become hydrated, but also the predominantly insoluble character of fluorine containing minerals, such as fluorspar (CaF<sub>2</sub>), which renders fluorine biologically unavailable compared with the other halogens. Nevertheless, the uniqueness

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +44 191 3342086; fax: +44 191 334 2000. *E-mail address*: s.l.cobb@durham.ac.uk (S.L. Cobb).

<sup>0022-1139/\$ –</sup> see front matter  $\circledcirc$  2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jfluchem.2008.11.003



Scheme 1. Microbial transformation of fluoroaromatic compounds.

of fluorine has resulted in this element being increasingly important in the area that is broadly defined as 'chemical biology'. The fluorine atom is isosteric with hydroxyl and its Van der Waal's radius (1.47 Å) is close to that of hydrogen (1.20 Å), thus its substitution in organic compounds results in a sterically unchanged product. However, these substitutions have profound effects on the electronic properties of the compound, since fluorine's electronegativity (4.0 on the Pauling scale) is the greatest of all the elements, and the bond dissociation energy of C-F (110 kcal mol<sup>-1</sup> in CH<sub>3</sub>F) is greater than that of C-H (99 kcal mol<sup>-1</sup>). Thus fluorinated derivatives of naturally occurring compounds, such as metabolic intermediates, have proved extremely useful in medicine and agriculture, and the numbers of fluorinated compounds used in these areas are ever increasing [2]. In concert with the increased interest in preparing fluorinated compounds that have biological effects, has been the technological advancement in the detection of fluorinated compounds. <sup>19</sup>F nuclear magnetic resonance is an invaluable tool for determination of the structure of fluorinated compounds, but the characteristics of <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectra make it very useful to investigate the interaction of fluorinated compounds with biological systems: the sensitivity of the fluorine nucleus is only slightly less than hydrogen, thus it is possible to detect µM concentrations; the resonances of organofluorine compounds do not overlap with those of carbon-13 and hydrogen, accordingly analysis is possible without the need for purification; and the relatively large chemical shifts resulting from minor changes in the chemical environment, such as those occurring during enzyme-catalysed reactions or interactions with other macromolecules, means that there is little or no peak overlap.

In this paper, the application of <sup>19</sup>F NMR in aspects of chemical biology is reviewed, with particular emphasis on the monitoring of organofluorine metabolism and the probing of macromolecular interactions. For information on aspects of <sup>19</sup>F NMR employed in clinical applications, the reader is referred to refs. [3–5].

### 2. Metabolic studies employing <sup>19</sup>F NMR

#### 2.1. Biotransformation of fluorinated xenobiotics

The wide range of applications that use organofluorine compounds has resulted in their accumulation in the environment. Therefore, research has focussed on the catabolism of model fluorinated pollutants, in particular fluoroaromatic compounds, by bacteria and fungi, and in this context <sup>19</sup>F NMR has proven to be an extremely useful tool for monitoring the degradation of the fluorinated compounds, and determining the catabolic pathways involved by shedding light on the identities of the fluorometabolites that accumulate in the culture medium. <sup>19</sup>F NMR has been used to monitor the biodegradation of fluorophenols [6–8], fluorobenzoates [9], fluorobiphenyl [10,11], fluorotoluene [12] and fluoroacetophenone [13]. The oxidative products of aromatic degradation, such as fluorocatechols and fluoromuconic acids (Scheme 1), could be detected in the culture supernatants;

however, in some cases it was not possible to fully identify the accumulated fluorometabolites, since no authentic standards were available to compare chemical shift and coupling constant data. For a comprehensive list of chemical shifts and coupling constants of the most common fluorometabolites arising from microbial degradation of fluoroaromatic compounds, the reader is directed to Boersma et al. [14].

<sup>19</sup>F NMR has also been used to study the metabolism of fluorinated xenobiotics in animals. For example, the metabolism of model pollutants 4-fluoroaniline 1 and 4-fluorobiphenyl was examined in the earthworm *Eisenia veneta* using <sup>19</sup>F NMR as a key technique to determine the biotransformation of these compounds [15,16]. 4-Fluorobiphenyl was not catabolised, but 4-fluoroaniline 1 was converted to the N- $\beta$ -glucoside conjugate 2 when doses of 125  $\mu$ g cm<sup>-2</sup> were used and the  $\gamma$ -glutamyl **3** conjugate at lower doses (Scheme 2). More recently the catabolism of 2-fluoro-4iodoaniline in E. vaneta was investigated, and 12 catabolic products were observed using <sup>19</sup>F NMR, none of which was fluoride ion [12]. In these studies, it was noted that while valuable data was obtained by <sup>19</sup>F NMR analysis regarding the extent of degradation and number of metabolites, it was necessary to use additional analytical techniques, such as HPLC-<sup>1</sup>H NMR and HPLC-MS, to firmly identify the products of Phase II (conjugative) metabolism. <sup>19</sup>F NMR was also used to monitor the biotransformation of 2fluoroaniline to the excretory products 4-acetamido- and 4-amino-3-fluorophenyl sulphate, and 4-acetamido-and 4-amino-3-fluorophenyl glucuronide in rats [17].

The metabolism of xenobiotic compounds, such as herbicides and pesticides in plants is of considerable interest because of agricultural concerns. One early study illustrated the usefulness of



Scheme 2. Metabolism of 4-fluoroaniline in Eisenia veneta.



Fig. 1. <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectra of compounds formed upon incubation of *S. cattleya* cell extract with *S*-adenosyl methionine (SAM) and F<sup>-</sup> ion [30].

<sup>19</sup>F NMR in this area by examining the *in vivo* accumulation of the mild herbicide trifluoroacetate in the tomato plant *Lycopersicon esculentum*. By surrounding the stem and leaves with the spectroscopy coil [18], it could be demonstrated that the compound accumulates in the leaves and is not further metabolised. The accumulation and transformation products of 4-chloro-2-fluorophenol, an analogue of 2,4-dichlorophenol, in acetonitrile extracts of the aquatic plant *Lemna minor* was investigated by <sup>19</sup>F NMR [19]. The compound was most likely conjugated, since new signals appeared downfield (-126 to -126.5 ppm) of that from the parent compound (-130.0 ppm), indicating an increased shielding of the fluorine nucleus, and the splitting pattern of the metabolites indicated that the aromatic nucleus was un-modified.

The degradation of the fluorinated pesticides *N*-ethyl-*N*-methyl-4-(trifluoromethyl)-2-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl) benzamide (fungicide) and isoxaflutole (herbicide) in *Acer pseudoplantus* by was evaluated using <sup>19</sup>F NMR, and some of the fluorometabolites could be identified from their chemical shifts [20,21].

#### 2.2. Detection and biosynthesis of natural organofluorine compounds

Although fluorine is the most abundant halogen in the earth's crust, it is not readily biologically available since most of it exists in insoluble minerals, such as CaF<sub>2</sub>. As a consequence of this, and the physicochemical properties of fluorine, such as the high redox potential of fluoride ion and its propensity for hydration in aqueous solution, fluorinated natural products are much less abundant that those containing chlorine or bromine, of which there are over 3000 known [22]. Fluoroacetate **4**, which is produced by plant species native to Australia, South Africa and Brazil and by the bacterium *Streptomyces cattleya*, is the most common, and <sup>19</sup>F NMR has made the detection of this compound more convenient [23,24].

The study of fluoroacetate **4** and 4-fluorothreonine **5** biosynthesis in *S. cattleya* relied heavily on <sup>19</sup>F NMR. Early experiments using stable isotope-labelled precursors were made possible because the incorporation of deuterium from isotope-enriched glycerol or succinate into the fluoromethyl group of the fluorometabolites led to a shift in the fluorometabolite signals of 0.6 ppm (single label) and 1.2 ppm (double label). Similarly, incorporation of <sup>13</sup>C from isotope-enriched precursors resulted in characteristic splitting of the fluorometabolite signals [25]. In cell extracts it was possible to observe the formation of fluorometabolites from the common fluorinated precursor fluoroactealdehyde **6** in enzyme assays for fluoroacetaldehyde dehydrogenase [26] and threonine transaldolase [27]. Crucially, measurement of the activity of the fluorinase enzyme in this strain was only made possible by continuous <sup>19</sup>F NMR analysis after incubation with Sadenosylmethionine 7 and fluoride ion, and demonstrated that 5'fluoro-5'-deoxyadenosine (5-FDA, 8) was the initial product of fluorination [28,29]. Additional signals present in the <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectra recorded during these experiments suggested the accumulation of fluorinated intermediates in the biosynthetic pathway. Subsequently, 5-fluoro-5-deoxy-p-ribose-1-phosphate 9 was identified as the next intermediate, which probably resulted from the action of a nucleoside phosphorylase on 5-FDA (Fig. 1) [30]. The fluorometabolite biosynthetic pathway in S. cattleya is summarised in Scheme 3.

#### 2.3. Fate of fluorinated drugs

Increasing numbers of pharmacologically active compounds are fluorinated [31], and <sup>19</sup>F NMR is a useful tool for determining the metabolic fate of these compounds *in vivo*. The classical fluorinated drug is 5-fluorouracil **10**, which is therapeutically applied to solid tumours and its metabolism has been extensively studied. The mechanism of action is the *in vivo* conversion of 5-fluorouracil to fluoronucleotides, which inhibit an enzyme required for DNA replication, thymidylate synthase; rapidly dividing cancerous cells are therefore particularly susceptible. The degradation of 5fluorouracil to excretory products has been closely monitored, and <sup>19</sup>F NMR has identified several fluorometabolites in plasma and urine collected from patients treated with this drug (Fig. 2) including 5,6-dihydroxyuracil **11**,  $\alpha$ -fluoro- $\beta$ -ureidopropionic acid



Scheme 3. Biosynthesis of fluorometabolites in Streptomyces cattleya.

**12**,  $\alpha$ -fluoro- $\beta$ -alanine **13**, fluoride ion, 2-fluoro-3-hydroxypropionic acid **14**, fluoroacetate **4**, *N*-carboxy- $\alpha$ -fluoro- $\beta$ -alanine **15** and the deoxycholic acid conjugate of **13** [32]. The degradation of 5-fluorouracil to fluoride, fluoroacetate **4** and 2-fluoro-3-hydro-xypropionic acid **14** probably occurs via the formation of  $\alpha$ -fluoro- $\beta$ -alanine **13**. *N*-carboxy- $\alpha$ -fluoro- $\beta$ -alanine can be generated by the non-enzymatic reaction of **13** with bicarbonate, and biliary excretion of **13** probably results in the formation of the deoxycholic acid conjugate. Scheme **4** summarises the likely

pathway of degradation. 5-Fluorouracil is cardiotoxic, which might be a consequence of the catabolism of the drug to fluoroacetate.

In drug discovery studies, it is important to have an understanding of the metabolism of the compound before proceeding with clinical studies. Since animal models are becoming less attractive, microbial models of mammalian metabolism are increasingly used. Corcoran et al. [33] examined the microbial transformation products of model fluorinated pharmaceutical compounds by <sup>19</sup>F NMR. Of the 48 strains examined, four effectively degraded the fluorinated compounds and the number and nature of the catabolites could be readily assessed using this technique, for example, 5-fluoroindole was transformed completely by Streptomyces sp. 3992E to yield five fluorometabolites, and no defluorination occurred (Fig. 3). Such a method might be useful in rapidly assessing the metabolic profiles of potential drugs prior to further development. In addition, <sup>19</sup>F NMR can be used in screening studies for novel drugs from natural sources. For example, Tarrago et al. [34] used <sup>19</sup>F NMR to screen for inhibitors of prolyl oligopeptidase (POP), which is an enzyme implicated in neuropsychiatric disorders, in extracts of plants traditionally used in Chinese medicine. These researchers designed a fluorinated substrate analogue Z-Gly-Pro-Phe-4-(CF<sub>3</sub>)-NH<sub>2</sub>, the hydrolysis of which can be followed by <sup>19</sup>F NMR, since the product formed (Phe- $4-CF_3$ ) has a different chemical shift to the substrate. This assay system avoids the pitfalls of colorimetric and fluorimetric assays, which can yield false positive and negatives. The investigators screened the extracts from 10 traditional Chinese medicinal plants using this method and determined that seven contained potential POP inhibitors. In a subsequent study using this assay method [35], the alkaloid berberine was identified as the POP inhibitor from extracts of Rhizoma coptidis. The same screening principle has also been applied to the discovery of compounds that inhibit HIV-1 protease, which is an enzyme required for the production of infectious virus particles and is a potential therapeutic target. A substrate based on the conserved cleavage site of the protease was synthesised based on the sequence SONFP, and included a fluoromethyl group on the aromatic ring of the phenylalanine residue since cleavage occurs between phenylalanine and proline. The cleavage of the substrate by HIV-1 protease could be followed using <sup>19</sup>F NMR, which recorded distinguishable signals of substrate and product, the intensities of which varied depending if an inhibitor was present or not [36].



Fig. 2. <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectrum of fluids from a patient treated with 5-fluorouracil; Facet, fluoroacetaldehyde. Reprinted from [32] with permission from Elsevier.



Scheme 4. In vivo catabolism of 5-fluorouracil.

#### 2.4. Assaying gene expression

Reporter genes, such as *lacZ*, which codes for the enzyme  $\beta$ -galactosidase, are inserted into vectors because they are easy to detect and demonstrate that transformation of the host cell has been successful. There are colorimetric methods available to detect the expression of this gene, but these are not appropriate for determining gene expression *in vivo*, since histological processing is required to visualise the colour. The molecule 4-fluoro-2-nitrophenyl- $\beta$ -D-pyranose **16**, which is the fluorinated analogue of the colorimetric substrate for  $\beta$ -galactosidase, was successfully demonstrated as a possible reporter molecule for detection of  $\beta$ -



**Fig. 3.** <sup>19</sup>F NMR of transformation products of 5-fluoroindole in cultures of *Streptomyces* sp. 3992E. The fluorinated metabolites are labelled M1–M5 according to their relative concentrations [29]. Reproduced by permission of the Royal Society of Chemistry.

galactosidase activity, using <sup>19</sup>F NMR to detect the product [37]. Cleavage of the glycosidic bond results in the formation of *p*-fluoroo-nitrophenol **17**, which has a chemical shift difference of >3.6 ppm compared with the substrate (Scheme 5). This assay system has been applied to the detection of LacZ in transfected human PC3 prostate tumour cells [38]. Signal-to-noise was improved with the incorporation of a trifluoromethyl group instead of a single fluorine atom [39], but the relative chemical shift response to glycosidic bond cleavage was smaller (<1.2 ppm). One drawback to this assay system is that the product is toxic and causes some cells to lyse. However, other less toxic fluorinated reporter molecules, based on 5-fluoropyridoxol as the aglycone, have been designed, and were found to yield <sup>19</sup>F NMR-observable products after hydrolysis by  $\beta$ -galactosidase [40].

Biologically-based cancer therapies have been developed that employ non-toxic 5-fluorocytosine, which is delivered to the site of the tumour together with a recombinant bacterium such as *Salmonella typhimurium* that expresses cytosine deaminase. This results in the intratumoural conversion of 5-fluorocytosine to the toxic 5-fluorouracil. <sup>19</sup>F NMR provides a means to monitor the successful conversion of the 5-fluorocytosine by recombinant organism, without the need for biopsy [41].

#### 2.5. Physiological measurement

The application of <sup>19</sup>F NMR to the *in vivo* measurement of physiological parameters such as pH, ion concentrations and tissue oxygenation is of major clinical relevance. These measurements rely on changes in the chemical shifts of fluorinated reporter molecules in response to, for example, binding a metal ion, or variation in relaxation rates, for example between anoxic and oxygen rich environments. These aspects of <sup>19</sup>F NMR have been recently comprehensively reviewed [42] and will not be elaborated upon further here.



Scheme 5. Hydrolysis of 4-fluoro-2-nitrophenyl- $\beta$ -D-pyranose by  $\beta$ -galactosidase.

#### 3. Binding studies

#### 3.1. Introduction

Developing a detailed understanding as to the ways in which biological molecules interact with one another is crucial to both elucidating their function and the mechanisms by which act. <sup>19</sup>F NMR has become a valuable tool for probing interactions between molecules in a variety of biological systems. The following section provides an overview of how <sup>19</sup>F NMR has been used in this area.

#### 3.2. Binding interactions involving proteins

<sup>19</sup>F NMR represents an attractive option for studying the interactions that can occur between proteins and a variety of biological molecules such short peptides and nucleic acids. The general advantages of <sup>19</sup>F NMR have already been discussed but in relation to the study of proteins it has emerged as a useful technique to study large proteins that cannot easily be probed by conventional NMR. An essential element to establishing this particular technique has been the development of procedures that give access to <sup>19</sup>F labelled proteins. In general two approaches are routinely used to achieve <sup>19</sup>F protein labelling. The first of these involves the chemical modification of existing amino acids residues such as cysteine within the desired protein. An example of this chemical labelling approach was reported by Thomas and Boxer who prepared trifluoroacetyl-labelled cysteine mutants of myoglobin that were then used to probe nitric oxide binding [43]. The reagent 2,2,2-trifluoroethanethiol has also been used in a similar manner to chemically incorporate a fluorine label into the protein rhodopsin via disulfide bond formation with cysteine residues [44]. In both of these examples some biosynthetic manipulation of the native proteins was performed prior to the chemical introduction of the fluorine label. This was required to either remove unwanted cysteines to allow site-specific incorporation of the fluorine label or to introduce a cysteine residue at the desired site of investigation.

The second method involves the biosynthetic incorporation of synthetic <sup>19</sup>F-labelled amino acids [45]. The biological methods pioneered by Shultz and co-workers to incorporate unnatural amino acids into proteins are well documented in the literature and will therefore not be discussed in this review [46]. One disadvantage of with this technique is that it has proven difficult to achieve site-specific incorporation of the <sup>19</sup>F labelled amino acids. Several groups are currently trying to develop methodology to address this problem and recently the first reported site-specific incorporation of a fluorinated amino acid (trifluoromethyl-Lphenylalanine 20) was reported by Mehl and co-workers [47]. A variety of <sup>19</sup>F-labelled amino acids have been incorporated using protein expression but the majority of the studies that have been carried out have utilised aromatic amino acids (Fig. 4) [48]. This is most likely because they are readily available either commercially or they are easily accessible via synthetic protocols.

The steric demands imparted by a hydrogen to fluorine substitution are minimal but a significant change in the electronic properties of a molecule can be observed. Consequently, the effects that <sup>19</sup>F-labelling has on the activity of on the native protein have been investigated and discussed in several papers [49]. In general however incorporation of a fluorine atom does not appear to alter the native protein structure but there are rare exceptions [50].

Although fluorinated aromatic amino acids have been typically favoured as <sup>19</sup>F NMR probes in both protein binding and conformational studies there are also examples of fluorinated aliphatic amino acids being utilised in this area. One of the first examples of a fluorinated aliphatic amino acid being used as a <sup>19</sup>F NMR probe was reported by Feeney et al. in 1996 [51]. In this study



synthetic (2*S*, 4*S*)-5-fluoroleucine **24** (5F-Leu **24**) (Fig. 5) was incorporated into the enzyme dihydrofolate reductase from *Lactobacillus casei*.

In addition to leucine two fluorinated methionine analogues trifluoromethionine 25 [52] and difluoromethionine 26 [53], and 4-fluorohistidine **27** [54] have all been utilised as <sup>19</sup>F NMR probes. Recently Kirk and co-workers developed a biosynthetic procedure that could be used to incorporate both 4-fluorohistidine 27 and its isomer 2-fluorohistidine 28 into E. coli proteins [55]. The presence of a fluorine atom lowers the  $pK_a$  of the side chain of both 4F-His 27 and 2F-His 28 from approximately 6.0–6.5 to 1 and 3 respectively [56]. Thus **27** and **28** offer a novel way in which to directly explore general acid/base catalysis within enzymatic systems. This is not a new concept but its development as a general technique has been hampered by the fact fluorinated histidine had to be incorporated into the protein using synthetic methodology [54,57]. However, it is likely that the development of a biosynthetic approach to incorporate both 27 and 28 into proteins may generate a renewed interest in their application as <sup>19</sup>F NMR probes. In recent years developments in the field of synthetic fluorine chemistry have also emerged that have provide routes to a wide range of fluorinated



Fig. 5. Chemical structures of  $^{19}\mbox{F-labelled}$  aliphatic amino acids that have been utilised as  $^{19}\mbox{F}$  NMR probes.







**Fig. 6.** Ribbon diagram of the Fyn SH3 domain indicating the locations of the four 3F-tyrosine residues. Reprinted from [59]. © 2007, with permission from Elsevier.

amino acids [58] providing and ever expanding tool-box of <sup>19</sup>F NMR probes for protein studies.

<sup>19</sup>F NMR has been used to study the binding interaction between a variety of biological molecules and <sup>19</sup>F-labelled proteins. A recent example of this was reported by Prosser and co-workers who utilised <sup>19</sup>F NMR to probe the binding interactions between a short peptide and the enzyme Fyn tyrosine kinase [59]. This enzyme has been found to play a critical role in signal transduction processes and regions of the protein the so called SH2 and SH3 domains, have been identified as being responsible for modulating the signal transduction via various binding interaction [60]. Prosser et al. were able to biosynthetically incorporate four 3fluoro-tyrosines into the SH3 domain of the protein (Fig. 6) [59]. Each 3-fluoro-tyrosine had a distinct <sup>19</sup>F signal and assignment of each signal was achieved by sequential mutation of each tyrosine residue to a non-fluorinated phenylalanine [59]. <sup>19</sup>F NMR was then used to study the binding interaction between the <sup>19</sup>F-labelled protein and a short proline-rich peptide known to interact with the SH3 domain.

#### 3.3. Protein-DNA binding interactions

To elucidate the mechanisms by which enzymes process DNA substrates, developing a clear understanding about the interactions and conformational dynamics that occur between these two macromolecules is fundamental [61]. However, one of the major challenges in this field is developing analytical techniques that can be effectively employed to monitor dynamic interactions in these large complexes. Again the unique properties of the fluorine atom allow <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy to circumvent the major problems associated with studying molecules of this size. Methods to access fluorinated-proteins have already been discussed but in studying binding interactions in enzyme-DNA complex access to fluorinated DNA are also desirable. A wealth of synthetic chemistry permits access to a range of fluorinated nucleosides that can act as <sup>19</sup>F NMR probes [62,63]. Fluorinated nucleoside analogues such as the 2,4-difluorotoluene analogue of thymine have also been used as probes to study various properties of DNA [64].

A DNA strand containing 5-fluoro-cytosine was used as a <sup>19</sup>F NMR probe to study the mechanism of DNA methylation [65]. From the <sup>19</sup>F NMR data collected it was possible to gain detailed structural information about the conformation that the DNA adopts when in contact with the enzyme's active site. In this particular case it was not possible to obtain similar information for X-ray studies. Stivers and co-workers have also utilised <sup>19</sup>F NMR



Scheme 6. Enzymatic synthesis of 5F-UTP Reprinted with permission from [72]. © 2007, American Chemical Society.

spectroscopy to study the conformational dynamics of DNA bound to vaccinia type IB topoisomerase [66]. Topoisomerases are family of enzymes that are essential for relaxing the superhelical strain in genomic DNA [67]. Stivers and co-workers were able to use <sup>19</sup>F NMR to show that the <sup>19</sup>F-DNA that interacts with the topoisomerase enzyme exists in two conformational states that are in slow exchange. It is worth noting that 5-fluoro-2'deoxyuridine that was used as the <sup>19</sup>F NMR probe in this case did not affect the binding affinity of the topoisomerase enzyme for DNA. It is also possible to utilise <sup>19</sup>F NMR to study DNA/enzyme binding interactions by incorporating the fluorinated label onto the protein rather than the DNA. This strategy was employed by Summers and co-workers who investigated the conformational effects that a fluorine labelled mutant of the metalloregulator protein MerR experienced upon DNA binding [68].

Studies that investigate the binding interactions between RNA and proteins have also been reported [69]. The fluorinated nucleosides required as building blocks for either the chemical or biosynthetic preparation of <sup>19</sup>F-labelled RNA samples can be accessed by a variety of synthetic procedures [70]. Efficient enzymatic syntheses of 2-fluoroadenine-5'-triphosphate [71] 5-flourouridine-5'-triphosphate (Scheme 6) and 5-fluorocytodine-5'-triphosphate have also been reported [72].

#### 3.4. Small molecule-protein binding interactions

As it has already been shown <sup>19</sup>F NMR can be an extremely powerful and versatile tool for investigating binding interactions between biological macromolecules. <sup>19</sup>F-labelled proteins can also be used to probe binding interactions between a known/potential substrates or small molecule and an enzyme's active site [73]. Alternatively such binding interactions can also be investigated by incorporating the fluorine-label required for analysis onto the small molecule. This can be achieved with relatively easily as a wide range of both a fluorinating agents and fluorinated building blocks are commercially available [74]. Ease of incorporation coupled with the fact that the fluorine atom displays a large chemical shift dispersion has led to <sup>19</sup>F NMR being developed as an analytical tool to screen libraries of potential ligands for biological targets. This is an expanding area of research and an excellent review of the applications of <sup>19</sup>F NMR in the field of drug discovery was recently published by Dalvit [75].

#### 3.5. Small molecule-DNA/RNA binding interactions

DNA has long been a target for the development of drug molecules [76] and consequently considerable effort has been directed towards developing analytical techniques to investigate the binding of small molecules to specific DNA targets. At present molecules that can stabilise DNA G-quadruplexes (quartet of four guanines) and thus act inhibitors of the telomerase enzyme are attracting considerable attention due to their potential anti-cancer properties [77]. Searle and co-workers have shown that <sup>19</sup>F NMR can successfully be used as analytical technique in this flourishing field of research [78].

In recent years RNA has also is become an attractive target for the development of drug molecules [79] and analytical techniques that can be easily employed to identify RNA binders are of great interest in this field. A variety of techniques have been utilised to date to try and identify potential RNA binders and these include fluorescence [80] mass-spectroscopy-assisted screening [81] and recently <sup>19</sup>F NMR [78]. Micura and co-workers outlined a general approach by which <sup>19</sup>F NMR could be used to identify potential RNA binders [82]. The technique involved incorporating 2'-deoxy-2'-fluoro nucleosides into a target RNA sequence. If a small molecule has the ability to bind to the RNA sequence then a shift in the <sup>19</sup>F signal is detected.

It was also shown that it was possible to successfully carry out binding studies using this <sup>19</sup>F NMR approach even with the larger RNA sequences (53-nt) (Fig. 7), something that is difficult to do with other analytical methods such as <sup>1</sup>H NMR. Although this work used known RNA binders such as tobramycin [83] it provided a clear proof of concept showing that the <sup>19</sup>F NMR could be applicable to the screening of combinatorial libraries to search of novel RNA binders.

#### 4. Structural analysis of macromolecules using <sup>19</sup>F NMR

#### 4.1. Background

Studying the conformational dynamics that macromolecules such as proteins and DNA display in solution is fundamental to developing a greater understanding of the biological processes in which with take participate in their natural environment. <sup>19</sup>F NMR again offers several advantages in this area. One of the major advantages that <sup>19</sup>F NMR has in this field is that it can be used to study biological macromolecules that would be too large to investigate easily by other analytical techniques such as <sup>1</sup>H NMR.

#### 4.2. Protein folding

Since its initial applications in the late 1960s and early 1970s <sup>19</sup>F NMR has established itself as powerful and versatile analytical tool for studying protein structure and conformational changes [84]. For further background information regarding the development of <sup>19</sup>F NMR in the field of protein studies readers are directed towards the earlier reviews written by Gerig [85] and Danielson and Falke [86].

Protein folding is a spontaneous process by which linear polypepetides adopt a 3-dimensional structure [87] For many proteins the 3-dimensional structure is essential for proper protein function. Problems with protein folding (i.e. protein misfolding) can lead to a number of human diseases including cystic fibrosis and Alzheimer's, and therefore it is currently an important area of research [88]. Optical techniques such as fluorescence and circular dichroism have widely been used to study protein-folding but the information provided by such approaches relates more to the global properties of the protein during folding or unfolding [89]. In order to obtain more detailed information about localised sites, side chains or specific residues then complementary spectroscopy techniques must be also employed and the most commonly used is NMR [90].



Fig. 7. <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectra showing the RNA binding selectivity of two ligands: (a) tobramycin and (b) FMN [82]. © Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Reproduced with permission.



**Fig. 8.** Real time <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectra showing the folding kinetics of a G121 V mutant of intestinal fatty acid binding protein. Reproduced from [95]. © 2007, The National Academy of Sciences.

The techniques that have been developed to produce and study fluorine labelled proteins for binding studies (see Section 3) have also found applications in the field of protein conformational studies [91]. In this field the application of <sup>19</sup>F as a probe offers several advantages over the more commonly utilised nuclei (<sup>1</sup>H, <sup>13</sup>C and <sup>15</sup>N). Firstly, <sup>19</sup>F NMR can be used to provide information about local conformational changes within specific regions of a protein during folding [92]. A recent example of this can be seen in the studies carried out by Hore and co-workers into the native and denatured states of green fluorescent protein [93]. A uniformly 3fluorotyrosine-labelled GFP was produced biosynthetically that contained ten different 3F-Tyr labels. As fluorine has a large chemical shift dispersion it was possible to differentiate and assign the signals belong to all of the incorporated 3F-Tyr residues within the protein. This allowed information about specific localised regions as well as a global view of the protein structures during folding to be established.

One of the most challenging aspects about studying protein folding relates to trying to identify intermediate structures. The difficulties of detecting these intermediates are largely related to their transient nature and low concentration. However, <sup>19</sup>F NMR can successfully provide information about intermediates on the protein-folding pathway that are invisible to other spectroscopic techniques. Here the strength of <sup>19</sup>F NMR is due to the fact that 1D-<sup>19</sup>F NMR signals can be resolved on a short time scale (seconds) allowing the direct detection of intermediates in real time [94]. Furthermore if multiple fluorinated amino acids are incorporated into the proteins in question then multiple localised sites can be monitored at the same time. This then allows a complete picture of the folding within the whole molecule to also be established. An excellent example highlighting the advantages of this technique was recently reported by Li and Frieden [95]. By utilising 4-fluoro-



Fig. 10. Chemical structure of FAF 31.



**Fig. 11.** <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectra (<sup>1</sup>H decoupled) showing that two conformations exisit for (a) 2'-F uridine labelled RNA and (b) 2'-F guanosine RNA. Reprinted with permission from [109]. © 2007, American Chemical Society.

phenylalanine **18** as a <sup>19</sup>F NMR probe they were able to monitor the sequential folding of intestinal fatty acid biding protein (Fig. 8) [95].

The position at which the fluorine atom sits on the aromatic ring can also varied to help provide additional information during <sup>19</sup>F NMR protein conformational studies. For example aromatic ring-flipping which can provide valuable structural information about protein folding [96] and this can be monitored by using 2-fluorophenylalanine as a probe [97]. In contrast if 4-fluorophenylalanine is used as a probe then subtle movements of the benzyl ring that cannot be attributed to ring flipping can also be detected [97].

One of the most intense areas of research with relation to protein structure and conformation undoubtedly relates to the



Fig. 9. Chemical structures of DNA adducts dG-C8-AF 29 and dG-C8-AAF 30.



Fig. 12. Folding mechanism of the hammerhead ribozyme. Incorporated 5-fluorouracil probes are shown in green. Reproduced from [110]. © 2001, The National Academy of Sciences. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of the article.)

field of membrane protein [98]. In this field the majority of the work carried out has utilised X-ray crystallography [99] but other spectroscopic techniques such as solution phase NMR [100] have also been investigated. <sup>19</sup>F NMR has also been shown to be a method well suited to provide information about immersion depth and topology of membrane proteins. For further information about the applications of <sup>19</sup>F NMR in this area readers are directed towards the recent review by Prosser et al. [101]. As an analytical tool in the study of membrane proteins <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy can still be viewed as an emerging technique but it has already shown considerable promise [102] and it will undoubtedly find further and increasing application in this field. It is also worth highlighting that several research groups are actively involved in developing solid-state <sup>19</sup>F NMR methodology to obtain structural information about membrane proteins [103].

#### 4.3. DNA and RNA secondary structure

Adduct formation in DNA is a well defined characteristic of mutation and it is also recognised as being an important step in the inhibition of both mutagenesis and carcinogenesis [104]. Arylamines such as 2-aminofluorenes and its analogues are a carcinogenic class of compounds that have been found to target DNA and form C8-substituted dG adducts [105]. Two major dG adducts are formed *in vivo*: AF [N-(2'-dexoyguanosin-8-yl)-2-aminofluorene] **29** and AFF [N-(2'-dexoyguanosin-8-yl)-2-aeety-laminofluorene] **30** (Fig. 9). Each of these DNA adducts adopt several different conformations that co-exist in a dynamic equilibrium. Developing a detailed understanding of the conformational-heterogeneity of these mixtures is critical as it has believed to be one of the factors that is ultimately responsible for determining the final mutagenic outcome of the DNA adduct.

Although analytical techniques such as <sup>1</sup>H NMR [106] and crystallography [107] have provided value structural information about this type of DNA adduct they have proven to be unsuitable for investigating the complex dynamic equilibrium that exists been the various conformations of the adducts. In order to overcome this problem Cho and co-workers investigated the use of a set of fluorine containing arylamines such as FAF 31 (Fig. 10) that could be used as probes in dynamic <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectroscopy studies of this type of DNA adduct [108]. Incorporation of fluorine atom was found not to effect the carcinogenic properties of the parent arylamines [108a] and importantly the dG-C8-FAF adduct was shown to adopt a similar conformation to its non-fluorinated analogue [108a]. After incorporation into the target DNA sequence the fluorinated probes were found to be very effective and they can be used to provide valuable information about the conformational heterogeneity of the various DNA adducts.

Understanding the secondary structure dynamics that exist in RNA can also provide valuable information about the function of these molecules. Structural studies on 15-kDa RNAs can routinely carried out using a combination of isotopic labelling (<sup>13</sup>C and <sup>15</sup>N)

and multidimensional heteronuclear NMR. However, with RNAs above 15-kDa it is often difficult to interpret the NMR data recorded. To simplify data analysis <sup>19</sup>F NMR has been developed by researchers as an alternative spectroscopic technique. As previously discussed a variety of fluorinated nucleoside are readily available and can be incorporated into an RNA sequence to produce a suitably <sup>19</sup>F-labelled RNA sample for <sup>19</sup>F NMR analysis. The work of Micura and co-workers provides a good example of how this <sup>19</sup>F-RNA can then be utilised in conjunction with <sup>19</sup>F NMR to probe the secondary structure equilibria of RNA molecules [109]. Micura et al. showed that <sup>19</sup>F NMR could easily distinguish between the double helix and single strand regions of various <sup>19</sup>F-RNA samples in solution (Fig. 11).

<sup>19</sup>F NMR has also been used to monitor conformational changes during RNA-mediated catalysis [110]. In order to carry out its catalytic function RNA must be adopt a precise 3-dimensional structure and understanding the nature of this structure and how it arises is obviously of interest as it underpins the catalytic mechanism. Lilley and co-workers incorporated 5-fluoro-uridine as a <sup>19</sup>F NMR sensitive probe into two critical positions within the RNA sequence of interest so that an internal view rather than a global overview of the folding process could be obtained (Fig. 12). By using <sup>19</sup>F NMR to monitor the movement of the incorporated fluoro-nucleotides detailed information about localised structural changes that were occurring during the folding of the RNA were investigated. In addition when the <sup>19</sup>F NMR data was viewed collectively it was also possible to establish an overview about the sequential steps involved in the RNA folding process. This work demonstrates that <sup>19</sup>F NMR provides a relatively straightforward and non-perturbing method to access detailed structural information about RNA folding.

#### 5. Concluding remarks

In this review we have demonstrated that organofluorine compounds, and consequently <sup>19</sup>F NMR, have very important roles in research at the chemical-biological interface. In addition to direct applications of organofluorine compounds that are used as pharmaceuticals and agrochemicals, they are employed as probes to explore enzyme mechanism, metabolic pathways and biomolecular interactions. The usefulness of the technique as applied to biological systems is somewhat limited by its sensitivity and the naturally low concentration of biological molecules (e.g. metabolites). Nevertheless, technological advances, such as cryoprobes, allow analysis of metabolites at physiological concentrations. Of minor concern are the differences in reporting chemical shifts by individual researchers; not all chemical shifts are recorded using CFCl<sub>3</sub> as a reference, which can lead to confusion for others attempting to confirm observations, or comparison of chemical shifts between separate studies. Future collaborations between fluorine chemists and biologists will be considerably facilitated by an appreciation of, and access to, <sup>19</sup>F NMR technology.

#### References

142

- L. Pauling, The Nature of the Chemical Bond, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York, 1960, p. 82.
- [2] P. Maienfisch, R.G. Hall, Chimia 58 (2004) 93-99.
- [3] R.E. London, in: R.J. Gillies (Ed.), In Vivo NMR Studies Utilizing Fluorinated NMR Probes NMR in Physiology and Biomedicine, Academic, San Diego, 1994, pp. 263– 277.
- [4] R.P. Mason, Noninvasive Physiology–F-19 NMR of Perfluorocarbons, Vth International Symposium on Blood Substitutes, San Diego, CA, (1993), pp. 1141–1153.
- [5] D.K. Menon, in: R.K. Harris (Ed.), Fluorine-19 MRS: General Overview and Anesthesia, Encyclopedia of Nuclear Magnetic Resonance, Wiley, Chicester, 1995, pp. 2052–2063.
- [6] G. Battaini, E. Monzani, L. Casella, E. Lonardi, A. Tepper, G.W. Canters, L. Bubacco, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 44606–44612.
- [7] V.S. Bondar, M.G. Boersma, E.L. Golovlev, J. Vervoort, W.J.H. Van Berkel, Z.I. Finkelstein, I.P. Solyanikova, L.A. Golovleva, I. Rietjens, Biodegradation 9 (1998) 475–486.
- [8] S.J. Brooks, E.M. Doyle, C. Hewage, J.P.G. Malthouse, W. Duetz, K.E. O'Connor, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 64 (2004) 486–492.
- [9] F.G.H. Boersma, W.C. McRoberts, S.L. Cobb, C.D. Murphy, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 237 (2004) 355–361.
- [10] N.A. Green, A.A. Meharg, C. Till, J. Troke, J.K. Nicholson, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65 (1999) 4021–4027.
- [11] C.D. Murphy, S. Quirke, O. Balogun, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 286 (2008) 45-49.
- [12] F.X. Prenafeta-Boldu, D. Luykx, J. Vervoort, J.A.M. de Bont, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67 (2001) 1030–1034.
- [13] M.J.H. Moonen, I. Rietjens, W.J.H. van Berkel, J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 26 (2001) 35–42.
- [14] M.G. Boersma, T.Y. Dinarieva, W.J. Middelhoven, W.J.H. van Berkel, J. Doran, J. Vervoort, I. Rietjens, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64 (1998) 1256–1263.
- [15] J.G. Bundy, E.M. Lenz, D. Osborn, J.M. Weeks, J.C. Lindon, J.K. Nicholson, Xenobiotica 32 (2002) 479–490.
- [16] C.J. Duckett, I.D. Wilson, D.S. Douce, H.J. Walker, F.R. Abou-Shakra, J.C. Lindon, J.K. Nicholson, Xenobiotica 37 (2007) 1378–1393.
- [17] J. Vervoort, I. Rietjens, C.T.W. Moonen, M. Vonkienlin, D. Despres, NMR Biomed. 4 (1991) 255–261.
- [18] A. Rollins, J. Barber, R. Elliott, B. Wood, Plant Physiol. 91 (1989) 1243-1246.
- [19] J.M. Tront, F.M. Saunders, Environ. Poll. 145 (2007) 708-714.
- [20] S. Aubert, K.E. Pallett, Plant Physiol. Biochem. 38 (2000) 517-523.
- [21] A.M. Serre, C. Roby, A. Roscher, F. Nurit, M. Euvrard, M. Tissut, J. Agric. Food Chem. 45 (1997) 242–248.
- [22] G.W. Gribble, Chemosphere 52 (2003) 289-297.
- [23] R.L. Demoraesmoreau, M. Haraguchi, H. Morita, J. Palermoneto, J. Med. Biol. Res. 28 (1995) 685-692.
- [24] H.C. Krebs, W. Kemmerling, G. Habermehl, Toxicon 32 (1994) 909–913.
- [25] J.T.G. Hamilton, C.D. Murphy, M.R. Amin, D. O'Hagan, D.B. Harper, J. Chem. Soc.-
- Perkin Trans. 1 (1998) 759–767. [26] C.D. Murphy, S.J. Moss, D. O'Hagan, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67 (2001) 4919–
- 4921. [27] C.D. Murphy, D. O'Hagan, C. Schaffrath, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 40 (2001) 4479– 4481
- [28] D. O'Hagan, C. Schaffrath, S.L. Cobb, J.T.G. Hamilton, C.D. Murphy, Nature 416 (2002) 279–1279.
- [29] C. Schaffrath, S.L. Cobb, D. O'Hagan, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 41 (2002) 3913–3915.
- [30] S.L. Cobb, H. Deng, J.T.G. Hamilton, R.P. McGlinchey, D. O'Hagan, Chem. Commun. (2004) 592–593.
- [31] C. Isanbor, D. O'Hagan, J. Fluorine Chem. 127 (2006) 303-319.
- [32] M. Malet-Martino, V. Gilard, F. Desmoulin, R. Martino, Clin. Chim. Acta 366 (2006) 61–73.
- [33] O. Corcoran, J.C. Lindon, R. Hall, I.M. Ismail, J.K. Nicholson, Analyst 126 (2001) 2103–2106.
- [34] T. Tarrago, S. Frutos, R.A. Rodriguez-Mias, E. Giralt, Chembiochem 7 (2006) 827– 833.
- [35] T. Tarrago, N. Kichik, J. Segui, E. Giralt, Chem. Med. Chem. 2 (2007) 354-359.
- [36] S. Frutos, T. Tarrago, E. Giralt, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 16 (2006) 2677-2681.
- [37] W.N. Cui, P. Otten, Y.M. Li, K.S. Koeneman, J.X. Yu, R.P. Mason, Mag. Res. Med. 51 (2004) 616–620.
- [38] L. Liu, V.D. Kodibagkar, J.X. Yu, R.P. Mason, FASEB J. 21 (2007) 2014-2019.
- [39] J.X. Yu, L. Liu, V.D. Kodibagkar, W.N. Cui, R.P. Mason, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 14 (2006) 326–333.
- [40] J.X. Yu, R.P. Mason, J. Med. Chem. 49 (2006) 1991-1999.
- [41] (a) T. Dresselaers, J. Theys, S. Nuyts, B. Wouters, E. de Bruijn, J. Anne, P. Lambin, P. Van Hecke, W. Landuyt, Br. J. Cancer 89 (2003) 1796–1801;
   (b) L.D. Stegman, A. Rehemtulla, B. Beattie, E. Kievit, T.S. Lawrence, R.G. Blasberg,
- J.G. Tjuvajev, B.D. Ross, PNAS (USA) 96 (1999) 9821–9826. [42] (a) J.X. Yu, V.D. Kodibagkar, W.N. Cui, R.P. Mason, Curr. Med. Chem. 12 (2005)
- (42) (a) J.A. TU, V.D. KOUIDAGKAT, W.N. CUI, K.P. IMASON, CUIT. MEG. CHEM. 12 (2005) 819–848; (b) J.V. V. W. Cui, D. Zhao, D.D. Marrie, in A. T. J. C. V. G. (7.1.) M

(b) J.X. Yu, W. Cui, D. Zhao, R.P. Mason, in: A. Tressaud, G. Haufe (Eds.), Non-Invasive Physiology and Pharmacology Using <sup>19</sup>F Magnetic Resonance, Fluorine and Health, Elsevier B.V., 2008, pp. 197–278.

- [43] M.R. Thomas, S.G. Boxer, Biochemistry 40 (2001) 8588-8596.
- [44] P.A. Luchette, R.S. Prosser, C.R. Sanders, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 124 (2002) 1778–1781.
- [45] C. Freiden, S.D. Howltzli, J.G. Bann, Methods Enzymol. 380 (2004) 400–415.
- [46] L. Wang, J. Xie, P.G. Shultz, Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 35 (2006) 225– 249.

[47] (a) J.C. Jackson, J.T. Hammill, R.A. Mehl, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 129 (2007) 1160-1166;

(b) J.T. Hammill, S. Miyaka-Stoner, J.L. Hanzen, J.C. Jackson, R.A. Mehl, Nat. Protocols 2 (2007) 2601–2607.

[48] (a) L.A. Luck, C. Johnson, Protein Sci. 9 (2000) 2573-2576;

S.L. Cobb, C.D. Murphy/Journal of Fluorine Chemistry 130 (2009) 132-143

(b) J.G. Pearson, B. Montez, H. Le, E. Oldfield, Biochemistry 36 (1997) 3590-3599; (c) L.A. Luck, J.E. Vance, T.M. O'Connell, R.E. London, J. Biomol. NMR 7 (1996) 261– 272;

(d) G.R. Winkler, S.B. Harkins, J.C. Lee, H.B. Gray, J. Phys. Chem. B 110 (2006) 7058-7061.

- [49] P. Bai, L. Luo, Z. Peng, Biochemistry 39 (2000) 372-380.
- [50] (a) V.M. Labroo, D. Hebel, K.L. Kirk, L.A. Cohen, C. Lemieux, P.W. Schiller, Int. J. Pept. Protein Res. 37 (1991) 430–439;
   (b) G. Xiao, J.F. Parsons, K. Tesh, R.N. Armstrong, G.L. Gilliland, J. Mol. Biol. 281
- (1998) 323–339.
  [51] J. Feeney, J.E. McCormick, C.J. Bauer, B. Birdsall, C.M. Moody, B.A. Starkmann, D.W. Young, P. Francis, R.H. Havlin, W.D. Arnold, E. Oldfield, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 118
- (1996) 8700–8706. [52] D.K. Garner, M.D. Vaughan, H.J. Hwang, M.G. Savelieff, S.M. Berry, J.F. Honek, Y.
- Lu, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128 (2006) 15608–15617. [53] M.D. Vaughan, P. Cleve, V. Robinson, H.S. Duewel, J.F. Honek, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 121 (1999) 8475–8478.
- [54] B.M. Dunn, C. DiBello, K.L. Kirk, L.A. Cohen, I.M. Chaiken, J. Biol. Chem. 249 (1974) 6295–6301.
- [55] J.F. Eichler, J.C. Cramer, K.L. Kirk, J.G. Bann, Chem. Biol. Chem. 6 (2005) 2170–2173.
- [56] H.J.C. Yeh, K.L. Kirk, L.A. Cohen, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 (1975) 928–934.
- [57] D.Y. Jackson, J. Burnier, C. Quan, M. Stanley, J. Tom, J.A. Wells, Science 266 (1994) 243–247.
- [58] (a) A. Sutherland, C.M. Willis, Nat. Prod. Rep. 17 (2000) 621-631;
- (b) X.L. Qiu, W.D. Meng, F.L. Qing, Tetrahedron 60 (2004) 6711–6745.
   [59] F. Evanics, J.L. Kitevski, I. Bezsonova, J. Forman-Kay, R.S. Prosser, Biochem.
- Biophys. Acta 1770 (2007) 221–230. [60] C.A. Koch, D. Anderson, M.F. Moran, C. Ellis, T. Pawson, Science 252 (1991) 668–
- [00] C.A. KOCH, D. Anderson, M.F. Moran, C. Ellis, T. Pawson, Science 252 (1991) 006-674.
- [61] S.J. Koch, A. Shundrovsky, B.C. Jantzen, M.D. Wang, Biophys. J. 83 (2002) 1098– 1105.
- [62] See references in K.W. Pankiewicz, Carbohydrate Research 327 (2000) 87-105.
- [63] W.H. Gmeiner, R.T. Pon, J.W. Lown, J. Org. Chem. 56 (1991) 3602-3608.
- [64] (a) S. Moran, R.X.-F. Xen, E.T. Kool, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 94 (1997) 10506– 10511;
- (b) K.M. Guckian, T.R. Krugh, E.T. Kool, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 122 (2000) 6841–6847;
   (c) J.S. Lai, J. Qu, E.T. Kool, Angew Chem. Int. Ed. 42 (2003) 5973–5977.
   (C) C. K. Gurandi, C. Saravi, K. Michels, J. MOD, 117 (2009) 117 (2009
- [65] S. Klimasauskas, T. Szyperski, S. Serva, K. Wuthrich, EMBO J. 17 (1998) 317–324.
   [66] K. Kwon, Y.L. Jiang, F. Song, J.T. Stivers, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 353–358.
- [67] J.J. Champoux, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 70 (2001) 369–413.
- [68] L. Song, Q. Teng, R.S. Phillips, J.M. Brewer, A.O. Summers, J. Mol. Biol. 371 (2007) 79–92.
- [69] F. Rastinejad, P. Lu, J. Mol. Biol. 232 (1993) 105-122.
- [70] C.C. Hardin, P. Gollnick, N.R. Kallenbach, M. Cohn, J. Horowitz, Biochemistry 25 (1986) 5699–5709.
- [71] L.G. Scott, B.H. Geierstanger, J.R. Williamson, M. Hennig, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 126 (2004) 11776–11777.
- [72] M. Hennig, L.G. Scott, E. Sperling, W. Bermel, J.R. Williamson, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 129 (2007) 14291–14911.
- [73] A.J. Doerr, M.A. Case, I. Pelczer, G.L. McLendon, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 126 (2004) 4192–4198.
- [74] K.L. Kirk, Org. Process Res. Dev. 12 (2008) 305-321;
- (b) S.D. Taylor, C.C. Kotoris, G. Hum, Tetrahedron 55 (1999) 12431-12477.
- [75] A. Dalvit, Prog. Nucl. Magn. Reson. Spectrosc. 51 (2007) 243–271.
- [76] L.-P. Lin, L.-S. Huang, C.-W. Lin, C.-K. Lee, J.-L. Chen, S.-M. Hsu, S. Lin, Curr. Drug Targets—Immune Endocr. Metab. Disorders 5 (2005) 61–72.
- [77] J.W. Shay, W.N. Keith, Br. J. Cancer 98 (2008) 677-683.
- [78] E. Gavanthiotis, R.A. Heald, M.F.G. Stevens, M.S. Searle, J. Mol. Biol. 334 (2003) 25-36.
- [79] (a) K.A. Xavier, P.S. Eder, T. Giordano, Trends Biotechnol. 18 (2000) 349–356;
   (b) G.J.R. Zaman, P.J.A. Michiels, C.A.A. van Boeckel, Drug Discov. Today (2003) 297–306.
- [80] J.R. Thomas, J.C. Denap, M.L. Wong, P.J. Hergenrother, Biochemistry 44 (2005) 6800–6808.
- [81] E.E. Swayze, E.A. Jefferson, K.A. Sannes-Lowery, L.B. Blyn, L.M. Risen, S. Arakawa, S.A. Osgood, S.A. Hofstadler, R.H. Griffey, J. Med. Chem. 45 (2002) 3816–3819.
- [82] C. Kreutz, H. Kahlig, R. Konrat, R. Micura, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 45 (2006) 3450– 3453.
- [83] L. Jiang, D.J. Patel, Nat. Struct. Biol. 5 (1998) 769-774.
- [84] (a) T.M. Spotswood, J.M. Evans, J.H. Richards, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 89 (1967) 5052– 5054;
  - (b) D.T. Browne, J.D. Otvos, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 68 (1976) 907-913;
  - (c) I.M. Chaiken, M.H. Freedman, J.R.J. Lyerla, J.S. Cohen, J. Biol. Chem. 248 (1973) 884–891;
  - (d) W.E. Hull, B.D. Skyes, Biochemistry 15 (1976) 1535-1546.
- [85] J.T. Gerig, Prog. Nucl. Magn. Res. Spectrosc. 6 (1994) 293-370.
- [86] M.A. Danielson, J.J. Falke, Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 25 (1996) 163–195.
- [87] C.M. Dobson, Nature 426 (2003) 884-889.
- [88] G. Taube, Science 271 (1996) 1493-1495.
- [89] S. Enoki, K. Saeki, K. Maki, K. Kuwajima, Biochemistry 43 (2004) 14238-14248.

- [90] (a) J. Juneja, J.B. Udgaonkar, Curr. Sci. 83 (2003) 157-172;
- (b) N.A.J. van Nuland, C.M. Dobson, L. Regan, Protein Eng. Des. Select. 21 (2008) 165–170;
  - (c) J. Balbach, V. Forge, N.A.J. van Nuland, S.L. Winder, P.J. Hore, C.M. Dobson, Nat. Struct. Biol. 2 (1995) 865–870.
- [91] J.G. Bann, C. Frieden, Biochemistry 43 (2004) 13775–13786;
   (b) X. Wang, P. Mercier, P.-J. Letourneau, B.D. Sykes, Protein Sci. 14 (2005) 2447–2460.
- [92] Q. Shu, C. Frieden, J. Mol. Biol. 345 (2005) 599-610;
- (b) Q. Shu, C. Frieden, Biochemistry 43 (2004) 1432-1439.
- [93] F. Khan, I. Kuprov, T.D. Craggs, P.J. Hore, S.E. Jackson, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128 (2006) 10729–11037.
- [94] J.G. Bann, J. Pinkner, S.J. Hultgren, C. Frieden, PNAS 99 (2002) 709-714.
- [95] H. Li, C. Frieden, PNAS 104 (2007) 11993–11998.
- [96] J.J. Skalicky, J.L. Mills, S. Sharma, T. Szyperski, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 123 (2001) 388–397.
- [97] H. Li, C. Frieden, Biochemistry 46 (2007) 4337–4347.
- [98] J.-J. Lacapere, E. Pebay-Peyroula, J.-M. Neumann, C. Etchebest, Trends Biochem. Sci. 32 (2007) 259–270.
- [99] (a) H. Michel, Crystallisation of Membrane Proteins, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1990;
  - (b) M.C. Wiener, Macromol. Cyrstallization 34 (2004) 364-372;
  - (c) J. Zhang, F.E. Frerman, J.J. Kim, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103 (2006) 16212-16217;
  - (d) J.I. Yeh, U. Chinte, S. Du, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105 (2008) 3280-3285.
- [100] C.R. Sanders, F. Sonnichsen, Magn. Reson. Chem. 44 (2006) S24-S40.

- [101] R.S. Prosser, F. Evanics, J.L. Kitevski, S. Patel, Biochim. Biophys. Acta (2007) 3044– 3051.
- [102] G. Anderluh, A. Razpotnik, Z. Podlesek, P. Macek, F. Separovic, R.S. Norton, J. Mol. Biol. 347 (2005) 27–39.
- [103] (a) A.S. Ulrich, Prog. Nucl. Magn. Reson. Spectrosc. 46 (2005) 1–21;
  (b) U.H.N. Durr, S.L. Grage, R. Witter, A.S. Ulrich, J. Magn. Reson. 191 (2008) 7–15;
  (c) S.L. Grage, U.H.N. Durr, S. Afonin, P.K. Mikhailiuk, I.V. Komarov, A.S. Ulrich, J. Magn. Reson. 191 (2008) 16–23;
  - (d) S.L. Grage, J.F. Wang, T.A. Cross, A.S. Ulrich, Biophys. J. 83 (2002) 336-3350.
- [104] A. Luch, Nat. Rev. Cancer 5 (2005) 113-125.
- [105] F. Liang, S. Meneni, B.P. Cho, Chem. Res. Toxicol. 19 (2006) 1040-1043.
- [106] D.J. Patel, B. Mao, Z. Gu, B.E. Hingety, A. Gorin, A.K. Basu, S. Broyde, Chem. Res. Toxicol. 11 (1998) 391–407.
   [107] S. Dutta, Y. Ii, D. Johnson, L. Dzantiev, C.C. Richardson, L.J. Romano, T. Ellenberger,
- Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101 (2004) 16186–16191. [108] (a) L.Zhou, G. Rajabzadeh, D.D. Traficante, B.P. Cho, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 119 (1997)
- (b) B.P. Cho, L. Zhou, Biochemistry 38 (1999) 7572–7583;
   (c) N. Jain, Y. Li, L. Zhang, S.R. Meneni, B.P. Cho, Biochemistry 46 (2007) 13310–
- 13321. [109] C. Kreutz, H. Kahling, R. Konrat, R. Micura, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 11558-
- [109] C. Nieuz, H. Kalling, K. Kollar, K. Micura, J. Alt. Chen. 30(, 127 (2005) 11536 [118] S. Kalling, R. Kollar, K. Micura, J. Alt. Chen. 30(, 127 (2005) 11536
- [110] C. Hammann, D.G. Norman, D.M.J. Lilley, PNAS 98 (2001) 5503-5508.